
 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Date: Wednesday, 19 April 2023 
Time: 
 

6.00 p.m. 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Katy Brown 
Tel: 0151 691 8543 
e-mail: katherinebrown@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
This meeting will be webcast at 

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
AGENDA  
 
 
 
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
3. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 12) 
 
 To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 16 

March 2023. 
 

4. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members are asked whether they have any personal or prejudicial 

Please note that public seating is limited, therefore members of the public 
are encouraged to arrive in good time. 
 
Wirral Council is fully committed to equalities and our obligations under The 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. If you have any 
adjustments that would help you attend or participate at this meeting, please 
let us know as soon as possible and we would be happy to facilitate where 
possible. Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk 
 

Public Document Pack

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


interests in connection with any application on the agenda and, if so, to 
declare them and state the nature of the interest. 
 

5. APP/22/01656: LAND ADJACENT TO OAK COTTAGE NOCTORUM 
ROAD, NOCTORUM, PRENTON, WIRRAL, CH43 9UQ, THE 
ERECTION OF A SEMI-DETACHED VILLA ON LAND ADJACENT 
TO OAK COTTAGE,  
WITH ASSOCIATED PARKING PROVISION AND ACCESS (2NO. 
DWELLINGS). (Pages 13 - 28) 

 
Planning Committee Terms of Reference 
 
 The terms of reference for this committee can be found at the end of 

this agenda. 
 
 



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 16 March 2023 
 

Present: Councillor S Kelly (Chair) 

 
 Councillors S Foulkes 

G Davies 
T Elzeiny 
H Gorman 
K Hodson 
M Jordan 
 

B Kenny 
P Martin 
J McManus 
P Stuart 
A Wright 
 

 
 

123 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
The Chair welcomed Members of the Planning Committee, Officers and 
members of the public to the meeting. 
 

124 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 

125 MINUTES  
 
The Director of Law and Governance submitted the minutes of the Planning 
Committee meeting and the Strategic Applications Sub Committee meeting 
which were both held on 9 February 2023. 
 
Resolved – That the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting and the 
Strategic Applications Sub Committee meeting which were both held on 
9 February 2023 be approved. 
 

126 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members of the Committee were asked whether they had any personal or 
prejudicial interests in connection with any item on the agenda and if so, to 
declare them and state what they were. 
 
Councillor Kathy Hodson declared a personal interest in item 5, by virtue of 
their position as Chair of Children, Young People and Education Committee.  
  
Councillor Steve Foulkes declared a prejudicial interest in Item 9 by virtue of 
their employment at Unilever. He indicated that he would leave the chamber 
during the discussion of the matter. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Councillor Mary Jordan declared a prejudicial interest in Item 9 by virtue of 
them receiving a pension from Unilever and their previous employment there. 
She indicated that she would leave the chamber during the discussion of the 
matter. 
 

127 APP/22/01323:  GRAZING LAND LEASOWE ROAD, WALLASEY 
VILLAGE, WIRRAL, ERECTION OF 14 HOMES TOGETHER WITH 
ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE, ACCESS, INTERNAL ROADS, 
LANDSCAPING AND ASSOCIATED WORKS  
 
The Development Management Manager presented the report of the Director 
of Regeneration and Place in relation to the above application for 
consideration. 
 
Objectors to the application, Phil Pilkington and Sharon Edwards, addressed 
the Committee. 
 
Ward Councillors Ian Lewis and Lesley Rennie addressed the Committee. 
 
The Applicant, Rebecca Hilton addressed the Committee.  
 
On a motion by the Chair and seconded Councillor Kathy Hodson it was –  
 
Resolved (11:1) – that the application be refused on the following 
grounds. 
 
In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority the proposal would   
represent an unacceptable form of development, by virtue of the 
proximity of the proposed dwelling to the rear of 19 Greenleas Road, 
which would result in an overbearing impact that would be detrimental 
to the amenities to the occupants of 19 Greenleas Road. This is contrary 
to policies HS4 of the adopted Wirral Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

128 RVC/22/01426; THE BEACON PROJECT ALBERT ROAD, HOYLAKE, 
WIRRAL, CH47 2AB, VARIATION OF CONDITION 8 AND 12 OF 
PREVIOUSLY APPROVED APP/19/00065  
 
The Development Management Manager presented the report of the Director 
of Regeneration and Place in relation to the above application for 
consideration. 
 
On a motion by Councillor Kathy Hodson and seconded by Councillor Steve 
Foulkes it was –  
 
Resolved (11:1) – that the application be approved subject to the 
following conditions. 

Page 2



 
1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 
from the date of this decision. 
 
2. No development involving the use of any facing materials shall take 
place until samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
external surfaces of the building have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
3. No development shall commence until the final detailed sustainable 
drainage design1, for the management and disposal of surface water 
from the site based on the principles and details identified in the 
following documents has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority: · Drainage Strategy and Flood Risk for Proposed 
Development The Beacon, Albert Road, Hoylake, Wirral (July 2018 rev 03 
/LRD29750/Sutcliffe) 
 
4. Prior to the occupation of any properties, a completed Operation and 
Maintenance Plan with appended as-built drawings must be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with Lead Local Flood Authority along with evidence of arrangements to 
secure funding and maintenance of the sustainable surface water 
drainage system for the lifetime of the development through an 
appropriate legally binding agreement. The approved Operation and 
Maintenance Plan shall be implemented prior to first occupation of any 
of the approved dwellings, or completion of the development, whichever 
is the sooner. (Details submitted DIS/22/00911) 
 
5. A suitable scheme of fume extraction shall be submitted in writing to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
building/renovation work commencing. When designing the fume 
extraction system reference should be made to the Defra document: 
Guidance on the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial Kitchen 
Exhaust Systems 
 
6. The ground floor commercial premises shall not be used except 
between the hours of :- 08:00 hours and 22:00 hours Mondays to 
Thursday 08:00 hours and 11:30 hours Friday and Saturdays 10:00 
hours and 22:00 on Sundays and Bank Holidays without the written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
7. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans received by the local planning authority on 31st 
January 2018 and listed as follows: 02-02-000, 02-02-001, 02-02-002, 02-

Page 3



02-003, 02-02-004, 02-03-000, 02-03-000, 02-03-001,02-03-002,02-05-
004,02-05-004,02-05-003,02-05-002,02-05-001, 
 
8. NO DEVELOPMENT SHALL TAKE PLACE until details of secure 
covered cycle parking and/or storage facilities have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These facilities 
shall be provided in accordance with the approved details and made 
available for use prior to the first use of the development hereby 
permitted and shall be retained for use at all times thereafter. 
 
9. Prior to the commencement of development a Construction 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The provisions of the Construction 
Management Plan shall be implemented in full during the period of 
construction and shall not be varied unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
10. No development shall take place until a Site Waste Management 
Plan, confirming how demolition and construction waste will be 
recovered and re-used on the site or at other sites, has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Plan shall be implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
11. Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings arrangements for the 
storage and disposal of refuse including recycling facilities, and vehicle 
access thereto, shall be made within the curtilage of the site, in 
accordance with details to be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
local planning authority. The approved details shall be implemented in 
full unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority.(submitted DIS/22/00911) 
 
12. The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the phasing plan received by the Local Planning Authority on 1 
September 2022 (Phasing Plan March 2019 Rev A) unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
13. Development shall not be commenced until a Travel Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The provisions of the Travel Plan shall be implemented and operated in 
accordance with the timetable contained therein unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
(Details submitted DIS/22/00911) 
 

129 APP/22/01656; LAND ADJACENT TO OAK COTTAGE NOCTORUM ROAD, 
NOCTORUM, PRENTON, WIRRAL, CH43 9UQ, THE ERECTION OF A 

Page 4



SEMI-DETACHED VILLA ON LAND ADJACENT TO OAK COTTAGE,WITH 
ASSOCIATED PARKING PROVISION AND ACCESS (2NO. DWELLINGS)  
 
The Development Management Manager presented the report of the Director 
of Regeneration and Place in relation to the above application for 
consideration. 
 
On a motion by Councillor Steve Foulkes and seconded by Councillor George 
Davies it was – 
 
Resolved – that the consideration of this application be deferred to the 
next meeting of the Planning Committee to allow members of the public 
further time to fully consider recent changes to the application. 
 

130 APP/22/01700; REDCOURT MANOR, 7 DEVONSHIRE PLACE, OXTON, 
WIRRAL, CH43 1TX, CONVERSION OF EXISTING GYMNASIUM 
OUTBUILDING WITHIN GROUNDS OF EXISTING SCHOOL TO 2 TWO-
BED RESIDENTIAL UNITS  
 
The Development Management Manager presented the report of the Director 
of Regeneration and Place in relation to the above application for 
consideration. 
 
Ward Councillor Allan Brame addressed the Committee. 
 
On a motion by the Chair and seconded by Councillor Mary Jordan it was – 
 
Resolved (9:3) – that the application be refused on the following 
grounds. 
 
The proposed will have a detrimental impact on the setting of the nearby 
grade 2 listed building (Redcourt) contrary to UDP policy CH1 and 
section 16 (Proposals affecting heritage assets (paras 194 199 to 202) of 
the National Planning Policy Framework due to the cladding material 
proposed and flat roofed design which would introduce an element 
which is unsympathetic and alien to the character and design of the 
original grade 2 listed residential dwelling. 
 

131 APP/22/01951; ELECTRICITY SUB STATION, SUNLIGHT WAY, 
BROMBOROUGH, WIRRAL, CH62 4TG, DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 
BUILDINGS AND DEVELOPMENT OF ADJOINING HIGH-BAY (UP TO 
31.5M HIGHT) AND LOW BAY (UP TO 11M IN HEIGHT) WAREHOUSES, 
WITH CONVEYOR LINK, ON THE EXISTING UNILEVER SITE, TO 
ACCOMMODATE MECHANICAL HANDLING EQUIPMENT, WITH 
ASSOCIATED OFFICES, EXTERNAL HGV BAYS AND ACCESS (B8 USE)  
 

Page 5



Councillor Steve Foulkes and Councillor Mary Jordan declared a prejudicial 
interest in this matter and left the room during its consideration (minute 34 
refers). 
 
The Development Management Manager presented the report of the Director 
of Regeneration and Place in relation to the above application for 
consideration. 
 
A representative of the Applicant, Madeleine Mcleod, addressed the 
Committee.  
 
On a motion by the Chair and seconded by Councillor Paul Stuart it was –  
 
Resolved – that the application be approved subject to the following 
conditions. 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
2. Except where modified by the conditions attached to this planning 
permission, the development hereby approved relates to and shall be 
carried out in accordance with the following approved plan: 
Location Plan Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-0100 Rev P03 Dated 
25/10/22 
Services to be diverted plan Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0102 Rev 
P03 Dated 25/10/22 
Demolition Plan Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A0103 Rev P03 Dated 
25/10/22 
Proposed Site Plan Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0104 Rev P03 
Dated 26/10/22 
Proposed Floor Plan Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0105 Rev P04 
Dated 26/10/22 
Proposed Office Plan Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0106 Rev P03 
Dated 26/10/22 
Proposed Elevations Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0107 Rev P03 
Dated 26/10/22 
Proposed Building Sections Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0108 Rev 
P02 Dated 15/09/22 
Proposed Site Sections Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0109 Rev P02 
Dated 28/10/22 
Conveyor Link Layout Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0110 Rev P02 
Dated 28/10/22 
Proposed Roof Plan Dwg No.20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0111 Rev P02 
Dated 28/10/22 
Proposed Cycle Shelter Details Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0112 
Rev P01 

Page 6



Proposed Bin Store Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0113 Rev P02 
Dated 31/10/22 
Proposed Fence Line Dwg No. 20464-RPS-S1-XX-DR-A-0114 Rev P02 
Dated 31/10/22 
Landscape Design Strategy Dwg No. JSL3843-RPS-XX-EX-DR-L-9001 
Rev P04 Dated 10/11/22. 
 
3. Development shall not commence until a Demolition and Construction 
Method Statement, together with supporting plan has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
Demolition and Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the demolition/ construction period. The Demolition and 
Construction Method Statement and plan shall, where applicable, 
provide for: 
 
i. details of temporary traffic management measures, temporary access, 
routes and vehicles (if any); 
 
ii. vehicle cleaning facilities; 
 
iii. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 
iv. the loading and unloading of plant and materials; and, 
 
v. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development. 
 
4. The development shall not be brought into use until the areas 
indicated on the submitted plans to be set aside for parking and 
servicing have been surfaced, drained and permanently marked out or 
demarcated in accordance with the details and specifications shown in 
drawing number 20464-RPS-SI-XX-DR-A-0104 Rev P03 Proposed Site 
Plan. The parking and servicing areas shall be retained as such 
thereafter. 
 
5. The development shall not be brought into use until the areas 
indicated on the submitted plans to be set aside for cycle parking have 
been provided in accordance with the details and specifications shown 
in drawing number 20464-RPS-SI-XX-DR-A-0104 Rev P03 Proposed Site 
Plan. The cycle parking shall be retained as such thereafter. 
 
6. The development shall not be brought into use until a Travel Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council as Local 
Planning Authority. The Plan shall include immediate, continuing and 
long-term measures to promote and encourage alternative modes of 
transport to the single-occupancy car. For the avoidance of doubt, the 
Travel Plan shall include, but not be limited to: a) Involvement of 
employees b) Information on existing transport policies, services and 

Page 7



facilities, travel behaviour and attitudes c) Access for all modes of 
transport d) Targets for mode share e) Resource allocation including 
Travel Plan Co-ordinator and budget f) A parking management strategy 
g) A marketing and communications strategy h) Appropriate measures 
and actions to reduce car dependence and encourage sustainable travel 
i) An action plan including a timetable for the implementation of each 
such element of h above j) Mechanisms for monitoring, reviewing and 
implementing the travel plan 
The Approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the 
timetable contained therein and shall continue to be implemented as 
long as any part of the development is occupied and in use. An annual 
report shall be submitted to the Council no later than 1 month following 
the anniversary of the first occupation of the development for a period of 
5 years. The annual report shall include a review of the Travel Plan 
measures, monitoring data and an updated action plan. 
 
7. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details 
of bird boxes to include number, type and location on an appropriately 
scaled plan as well as timing of installation, has been provided for 
approval and implemented in accordance with those details. 
 
8. Prior to commencement of development a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall 
address and propose measures to minimise the main construction 
effects of the development and, amongst other things, shall include 
details of ecological mitigation. The CEMP shall include the agreed 
method statements to mitigate or avoid adverse environmental impacts: 
Breeding birds- no tree or scrub removal between 1 March and 31 
August inclusive, unless informed by a suitably qualified ecologist; 
Reasonable Avoidance Measures for protection of badger hedgehog 
(Protected Species (NERC, 2006)); and 
Methods for removal of the invasive species cotoneaster (Schedule 9 of 
Wildlife and Countryside Act) and buddleia which could include 
methods such as digging out, turning upside down on tarpaulin and 
leaving for an extended period before burying after the plant is 
confirmed as dead. It is imperative this is done outside of the fruiting 
period for cotoneaster to ensure no contamination. 
 
9. Prior to the commencement of development the production of a full 
and detailed Landscape and Ecological Management Plans shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
which covers management of the site in perpetuity or for the duration of 
the development is required. The Plan should include the following: 
Description and evaluation of the features to be managed; 
Ecological trends and constraints on site which may influence 
management; 

Page 8



Aims and objectives of management; 
Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives; 
Prescriptions for management actions; 
Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan and the 
means by which the plan will be rolled forward annually); 
Personnel responsible for implementation of the plan; 
Confirmation of funding and ownership; and, 
Details of a programme of monitoring and remedial measures triggered 
by monitoring. 
 
10. Noise mitigation measures shall be undertaken in line with the noise 
mitigation measures outlined in paragraph 5.7 of the submitted Noise 
Impact Assessment. 
 
11. The development hereby permitted by this planning permission, 
including all components of the sustainable drainage system, shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved Drainage Design Report, 
Project Marula, Port Sunlight / Version P03 / dated 12 January 2023 / ref: 
20464-RPS-SI-XX-RP-D-0030 / by RPS Group For the avoidance of doubt, 
the surface water discharge rate from the development shall be no more 
than 13.4 l/s. The approved scheme shall be fully constructed prior to 
occupation in accordance with the approved details, phasing and 
timetable embodied within the approved Sustainable Drainage Strategy, 
or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. 
 
12. The development hereby permitted by this planning permission, 
including all components of the sustainable drainage system, shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved final Sustainable Drainage 
Strategy, including any phasing embodied within, and maintained in 
perpetuity in accordance with an agreed Operation and Maintenance 
Plan, to be submitted for each development phase, approved by the 
Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. The approved drainage scheme shall be fully constructed 
prior to occupation in accordance with the approved details, phasing 
and timetable embodied within the approved final Sustainable Drainage 
Strategy, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Lead 
Local Flood Authority. ‘As built’ drainage design/layout drawings and a 
final Operation and Maintenance Plan, confirming asset details and 
maintenance arrangements, shall be submitted to the Lead Local Flood 
Authority, in accordance with any approved phasing, prior to 
occupation. 
 
13. No development, except for site enabling works, shall commence 
until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with 

Page 9



contamination of the site in respect of the development hereby 
permitted, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. This strategy will include the following components: 
Additional site investigation scheme, based on the information already 
submitted, to provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk 
to all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site. 
The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment 
referred to in (1) and, based on these, an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken. 
A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in 
order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy 
in (2) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term 
monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action. Any changes to these components require the 
written consent of the local planning authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented as approved. 
 
14. Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods 
shall not be permitted other than with the express written consent of the 
local planning authority, which may be given for those parts of the site 
where it has been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable 
risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
15. Prior to any part of the permitted development being brought into 
use, a verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out 
in the approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the 
remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the local 
planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and 
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan 
to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. 
 
16. Before the scheme is brought into use, the applicant shall submit a 
report to the local planning authority for its written approval. This report 
shall detail the lighting scheme to be used on site. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented in full. 
 

132 APP/22/00215; ASHLEA, 37 THURSTASTON ROAD, HESWALL CH60 
6SB, DOUBLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION. EXISTING CONSERVATORY 
TO BE DEMOLISHED.  
 
The Development Management Manager presented the report of the Director 
of Regeneration and Place in relation to the above application for 
consideration. 
 
The Ward Councillor Andrew Hodson addressed the Committee. 

Page 10



 
On a motion by the Chair and seconded by Councillor Steve Foulkes it was –  
 
Resolved (8:4) – that the application be approved subject to the 
following conditions. 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans received by the local planning authority on 07 
February 2023 and listed as follows: 
 Drawing no: 010 P3 (Proposed Basement Plan), dated: 07 February 
2023; 
 
Drawing no: 011 P4 (Proposed Ground Floor Plan), dated: 07 February 
2023; 
 
Drawing no: 012 P6 (Proposed First Floor Plan), dated: 07 February 
2023; 
 
Drawing no: 013 P5 (Proposed Loft Floor Plan), dated: 07 February 2023; 
 
Drawing no: 014 P5 (Proposed Roof Plan), dated: 07 February 2023; 
 
Drawing no: 015 P7 (Proposed Elevations), dated: 07 February 2023; and 
 
Drawing no: 016 P5 (Proposed Elevations), dated: 07 February 2023. 
 
 
3. No surface water from any increase in the roof area of the building /or 
impermeable surfaces within its curtilage shall be allowed to drain 
directly or indirectly to the public sewerage system. 
 
4. Prior to the balcony hereby approved being brought into use, a 1.7m 
high x 2.38m long timber privacy screen shall be installed along the 
south facing side of the balcony with a 1.7m high x 1m long return 
installed on the west facing balcony frontage all of which shall be 
retained as such thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
5. The ground floor and first floor side windows and first floor rear 
window shall not be glazed otherwise than with obscured glass 
(windows to be fixed shut or non-opening up to a height of 1.7m and top 
hung, opening inwards or outwards) and thereafter be permanently 
retained as such. 
 

Page 11



133 REVIEW OF THE STATUTORY WIRRAL BROWNFIELD LAND REGISTER  
 
The Development Management Manager presented the report of the Director 
of Regeneration and Place in relation to the above application for 
consideration. 
 
The Chair informed members that ward specific queries should be sent 
directly to the report author for a response.   
 
On a motion by Councillor Steve Foulkes and seconded by the Chair it was –  
 
Resolved – that  
 
The Planning Committee approve that: 
 

(1) The sites listed in Appendix 2 to the report be removed from Part 
1 of the Council’s Brownfield Land Register;  

(2) The sites listed in Appendix 3 to the report be added to Part 1 of 
the Brownfield Land Register;  

(3) The sites listed in Appendix 4 to the report be updated and 
continue to be included on Part 1 of the Brownfield Land Register; 
and 

(4) The sites listed in Appendix 5 to the report remain unchanged and 
continue to be included on Part 1 of the Brownfield Land Register.  

 
 
 

Page 12



  

Planning Committee  April 19th 2023 

  

Reference: Area Team: Case Officer: Ward: 

APP/22/01656 DM Mrs S Lacey Claughton 

  

Location: 
Land adjacent to Oak Cottage Noctorum Road, Noctorum, Prenton, Wirral, 
CH43 9UQ 

Proposal: 
The erection of a semi-detached villa on land adjacent to Oak Cottage, 
with associated parking provision and access (2no. dwellings). 

Applicant: Michael Traynor 

Agent : Paddock Johnson Paddock Johnson Architects 

  

Qualifying Petition Yes 

  

Reason Deferred From Planning Committee 
The item was deferred at 16 March Planning 
Committee to allow neighbours further opportunity 
to comment on amendments to the scheme.   

 

Site Plan: 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019803 You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, 
distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form. 

  

Development Plan 
designation: 

Primarily Residential Area 
Density and Design Guidelines Area 
Tree Preservation Order 

   

Planning History:   

Location:   Land adj Oak Cottage Noctorum Road Noctorum 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Application Type:  Full Planning Permission 

Proposal:  
The erection of 2 no. detached dwellings on land 
adjacent to Oak Cottage, with associated garages, 
parking provisions and a new access road. 

Application No:  APP/22/00500 

Decision Date:  18/08/2022 

Decision Type:  Refuse  

  

Location:   
Land adjacent to Oak Cottage, ST DAVIDS LANE, 
NOCTORUM, CH43 9UD 

Application Type:  Outline Planning Permission 

Proposal:  
Outline planning application for the erection of a 
detached dwelling. All matters reserved except for 
access.  

Application No:  OUT/17/01551 

Decision Date:  19/04/2018 

Decision Type:  Approve  

  

Location:   S Oak Cott Noctorum Road Noctorum L439uq 

Application Type:  Full Planning Permission 

Proposal:  
Erection of two detached dwelling houses on land 
adjacent to 'Oak cottage'  

Application No:  APP/77/06945 

Decision Date:  26/05/1977 

Decision Type:  Refuse  

  

   

Summary Of Representations and Consultations Received: 

   

1. Ward Member 
Comments 

The application was called in by Councillor Wood for committee 
determination  for the reason that the proposal contravenes density 
guidelines for the area and will be detrimental to the local amenity. 

2. Summary of 
Representations 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Having regard to the Council Guidance on Publicity for Applications, 3 
letters of notification were sent to neighbouring properties and a site notice 
was displayed on the highway on 15th November 2022.  24 letters of 
objection were received citing the following concerns: 

Page 14



1. Density and scale result in an overdevelopment of the site, 
contrary to the density guidelines for Noctorum Ridge and out of 
character 

2. Loss of trees; 
3. The design is trying to look like a period house; 
4. Highway safety concerns and inadequate parking provision 

resulting in cars parking on narrow highway with limited visibility 
and risk to pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers; 

5. There may be an air raid shelter on the site which has never been 
developed; 

6. Ecological impacts – nesting birds, bats, owls, foxes; 
7. There may be an intention to build apartments rather than single 

dwellings; 
8. Not a brownfield site; 
9. The illustrative street view is not an accurate representation of the 

position of the neighbouring garage; 
10. The Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Planting Plan both 

refer to the previous application for two houses. 
11. Misleading information: the description of the development refers 

to the erection of a semi-detached villa, it should be made clear 
that the application is for the erection of two dwellings, and 
reference to Plot 4; 

12. The existing trees are likely to significantly reduce the natural light 
the proposed development would receive, potentially resulting in 
subsequent applications to fell the trees for amenity reasons; 

13. Lack of storage facilities; 
14. The revised plans were not available on the Council website until 

13 March.  The neighbours have not been able to comment on the 
amendments for a reasonable period of time prior to the 
preparation of the Committee report, which would then enable the 
inclusion of all comments in the report; 

15. Neighbours have not been able to comment if the amendments 
are substantially similar.  Presumably the amendments were 
submitted to address concerns that would, otherwise, have led to 
a recommendation for refusal – that would appear to make them 
‘significant’. 

 
In addition, a qualifying petition of 96 signatures has been received which 
raises the following objections: 

1. Exceeds the density in Policy HS5  
2. Is a risk to mature protected trees  
3. Inadequate and impractical parking provision   

  

  

CONSULTATIONS 

Traffic & Transportation - no objection subject to the standard vehicle 
access informative. 

Highway Asset – no objection subject to CMP and informative 

MEAS – no objection subject to conditions 

Trees – no objection subject to conditions 

  

3.1 Site and 
Surroundings 

The site comprises a piece of grassed, undeveloped land with mature 
trees to the boundaries.  The site is designated Primarily Residential Area 

Page 15



and is in the Density and Design Guidelines Area.  The surrounding area is 
characterised by large, detached dwellings of mixed design on spacious 
plots. There are open playing fields opposite the site. Overall, the area has 
a spacious and rural character (fig.1). 

In this part of Noctorum Ridge, development is subject to restriction under 
saved UDP policy HS5, which permits new ‘low rise’ housing at a 
maximum density of 10 dwellings per hectare. The justification for this is to 
maintain the area’s prevailing character which comprised of large 
detached houses with extensive gardens. This low density of development 
coupled with an abundance of mature trees and shrubs gives the area a 
considerable environmental quality. 

 
  

3.11 Fig.1: 
Streetscene Photos  

  

 
  

3.2 Proposed 
Development 

The application proposes the erection of a semi-detached villa (2no. 
dwellings) on land adjacent to Oak Cottage, with associated parking 
provisions and access. 

 
  

3.3 Development Plan Under the provisions of section 70(2) Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and the provisions of the NPPF (paragraph 2) applications for 
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

At the current time the statutory development plan for the area comprises 
saved policies of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (UDP) (2000) and 
polices of the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Plan (2013). The UDP 
designates the site as a Primarily Residential Area. The following policies 
in the UDP are relevant to this planning application: 

Policy HS4 of the UDP requires new housing developments to be of a 
scale and form which relates well to surrounding properties, in particular 
with regard to existing densities and form of development, and does not 
result in a detrimental change in the character of the area, to make 

Page 16



satisfactory provision for off street parking and access and to provide 
appropriate boundary treatment and landscaping.  

Policy HS5 Density and Design Guidelines  Noctorum Ridge sets out all 
new development should be compatible with the character of existing 
properties in the neighbourhood and sympathetic in design.  The site falls 
within Zone 1 which sets out a maximum density of 10 dwellings per 
hectare. 

The justification for this policy states that "many of the Borough's older 
established residential areas have a special character derived from their 
architecture and extensive mature gardens. These areas are attractive to 
residents and there is always pressure for new dwellings through both infill 
and redevelopment... New development therefore offers a challenge to 
their existing character which can be addressed by specific controls on the 
density of new development. The guidelines set out in Policy HS5 are long 
established and have been successful in controlling new and converted 
housing, by retaining the best property as far as possible and by 
preserving the spaces between buildings. 

The Noctorum Ridge extends for 2.5 kilometres from Bidston Hill in the 
north to Woodchurch Road in the south and for 2 kilometres from Ford Hill 
in the west to Slatey Road in the east. It includes a number of different 
areas of mature housing, ranging from the large detached houses around 
the Wirral Ladies Golf Course to the densely developed Victorian housing 
around Oxton Village. 

However, the pressure for development on the Ridge, which is one of 
Birkenhead's most popular housing areas, has led to a threat to its 
character. The Council's response has been to divide the area into a 
number of separate zones of differing character and capacity for varied 
development. This diverse area provides for a full range of housing needs, 
from converted flats for small households in the east of the area, to large 
high-quality family housing in the west. 

Zone 1 is comprised of large detached houses with extensive gardens. 
The abundance of mature trees and shrubs together with the low density 
of development create an area of considerable environmental quality." 

Policies GR5 and GR7 aim to retain existing landscaped features that 
make a positive contribution to the area, whilst supporting and enhancing 
this with appropriate new landscaping.  GR7 governs the Council’s 
approach to trees and new development and notes that the authority will 
seek to substantially preserve the wooded character of a site or 
surrounding area; provide for the protection of trees of greatest visual or 
wildlife value and other vigorous healthy trees; ensure that trees to be 
retained have adequate space in order to prevent damage to their canopy 
or root structures; prevent the removal of trees by occupiers to obtain 
sunlight or remove perceived danger to life and property; and protect trees 
on adjacent land which may be affected by the development proposed. 

NC7 Species Protection ensures development will not have an adverse 
effect on wildlife species protected by law through appropriate conditions. 

NC2 Sites of International Importance for Nature Conservation is relevant 
as the site is near to European sites Mersey Narrows and North Wirral 
Foreshore Special Protection Area (SPA) (4.2km), Mersey Narrows and 
North Wirral Foreshore Ramsar site (4.2km), Dee Estuary Special Area of 

Page 17



Conservation (SAC) (4.2km), Mersey Estuary SPA (4.5km), Mersey 
Estuary Ramsar site (4.5km) protected under the Conservation of Habitats 
& Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). 

The following policies from the Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and 
Halton are also applicable: 

Policy WM8 requires development to incorporate measures for achieving 
efficient use of resources, and Policy WM9 also requires development to 
provide measures for waste collection and recycling 

 
  

3.4 Other Material 
Planning 
Considerations 

Supplementary Planning Guidance 2 (SPG2) Density and Control 
Guidelines 

Zone 1 is comprised of large detached houses with extensive gardens.  
The abundance of mature trees and shrubs together with low density 
development creates an area of considerable environmental quality.  To 
conserve this character only limited infilling will be allowed.   

To retain environmental quality applications should take account of 
existing trees and should be a maximum of 10 dwellings per hectare.    

The National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) 

The updated National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) supports well 
designed sustainable development which promotes the choice of high 
quality homes and takes the opportunities to improve the quality and 
character of the area.   

The NPPF seeks to make the most efficient use of land and notes that 
where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting 
identified housing needs it is especially important that planning policies 
and decisions avoid homes being built at low densities and ensure that 
developments make optimal use of the potential of each site (paragraph 
123). The NPPF does recognise that the desirability of maintaining an 
area's prevailing character and setting should be taken into account, as 
well as the importance of securing well designed, attractive and healthy 
places (paragraph 122).  

 
Section 12 seeks to achieve well designed places. In particular, paragraph 
130 advises planning authorities that developments should: function well 
and add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive as a result 
of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; be 
sympathetic to local character and history whilst not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation and change; establish or maintain a 
strong sense of place; and create places that are safe, inclusive and 
accessible with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users, 
amongst other matters. Development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area 
and the way it functions, taking into account any local design standards or 
style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents should be 
refused.  
 

Page 18



The National Design Guide came into force on 01 October 2019 and of the 
ten characteristics of well-designed places, the sections on Context, 
Identity and Built Form are of most relevance to this proposal. 

The Emerging Wirral Local Plan 

Wirral Borough Council has submitted the Wirral Local Plan 2021-2037 
(Local Plan) for examination. 

On the 21 March 2022 full council approved publication of the Draft Local 
Plan Under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning Act (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 before submission to the Secretary 
of State. The Local Plan was published in May 2022 and representations 
were available to be submitted until 25th July 2022.  The Local Plan was 
submitted to the Secretary of State on the 26th October 2022.  The Local 
Plan and supporting evidence base can be viewed online at 
www.wirral.gov.uk/lpexam 

As the Local Plan has been submitted for examination it (and the 
supporting evidence base) is a material consideration and can be afforded 
weight in the decision making process. In attaching weight to individual 
policies, paragraph 48 of the NPPF is relevant as it states: 

“Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given); 

the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may 
be given); and 

the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to 
this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies 
in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).” 

Noctorum falls within Suburban Birkenhead Settlement Area 3.  One 
priority for Suburban Birkenhead is to maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of the older residential areas, particularly along the 
Noctorum Ridge, including their woodland setting and the landscape 
character of Bidston Hill and the Wirral Golf Course, through land 
allocations and other plan policies including WS 5 Strategy for Green and 
Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Biodiversity and Landscape Protection 
(para. 5.23). 

UDP policy HS4 and HS5 will be replaced by policy WS3, WS6 and WS7 
in the Local Plan.  Emerging Policy WS3.2 Housing Density of the Local 
Plan looks to achieve efficient use of land having regard to the prevailing 
character of the area.  New residential development within the Suburban 
Area Density Zones (RES-DZ4) should provide a minimum density of 40 
dwellings per hectare unless it can be demonstrated that this is not 
appropriate having regard to site characteristics. 

Emerging Policy WD1 Landscaping of the Local Plan sets out 
development proposals will be required to demonstrate, how suitable 
landscaping has been used to contribute positively to visual amenity and 

Page 19



successfully integrate the development within the landscape character and 
local distinctiveness of the area including its heritage. The natural 
regeneration of suitable plant species on site will be encouraged. 

Wirral Tree Strategy (May 2020) 

Wirral’s Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Strategy 2020-2030 sets out 
better ways of managing and increasing trees and hedgerows, in line with 
the recommendations of the UK Committee on Climate 
Change.  Paragraph 3.4 sets out replacement planting in order to help 
achieve Wirral’s tree canopy cover target by 2050.  Ideally trees will 
generally be replaced in the same location but in some circumstances a 
nearby location may be more appropriate.  

 

 
  

3.5 Assessment The main issues pertinent in the assessment of the proposal are the 
principle of development, densities and the character of the area, design, 
highway safety and the harm to residents' amenity. 

 
  

3.6 Principle of 
Development 

The site is designated a Primarily Residential Area where the principle of 
constructing new housing is accepted, and it has been established on this 
site through the grant in 2018 of outline planning permission for one 
detached dwelling. 

A previous planning application (APP/22/00500) for two detached 
dwellings on the site was refused for the following reasons:  

1 The loss of this previously undeveloped site for a residential 
development, particularly one of the proposed scale and that is of a higher 
density than the prevailing character of the area, would have a clear 
adverse impact on the character of this area and therefore conflicts with 
Wirral Unitary Development Plan Policy HS4 and HS5 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework and SPG2. 

2 The proposal is considered to harm the amenity of the neighbouring 
properties, specifically the proposed first and second floor balconies and 
the scale and proximity of plot 2 adjacent to Oak Cottage, and therefore 
conflicts with Wirral Unitary Development Plan Policy HS4 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 20



 

Fig.2: Refused planning permission APP/22/00500 for two detached 
dwellings. 

  
The applicant sets out the land is brownfield site, which the neighbours 
contend.  Notwithstanding this, the outline permission granted for 1no. 
dwelling in 2018 (OUT/17/01551) considered the principle of infill housing 
on this residential street in a Primarily Residential Area acceptable.   As 
the site is not formally designated as a Local Green Space there are no 
policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance, 
and which provide a clear reason for refusing the development. 

  

3.7 Density and 
Design 

Planning application APP/22/00500 for the construction of two large 
detached dwellings was refused would not maintain the prevailing 
spacious character of the area contrary to Policy HS4 of the UDP which 
requires new housing developments be of a scale and form which relates 
well to surrounding properties, in particular with regard to existing densities 
and form of development, The proposal for 2 detached dwellings did not 
allow enough spacing between dwellings to ensure the proposal integrates 
successfully with the wider spacing of dwellings to Noctorum Road, and 
was considered contrary to policy HS4.  

The application has been resubmitted for the same number of dwellings 
(2no.) but the development has been redesigned to have the appearance 
of a single property, centrally positioned within the plot, with one shared 
driveway, and one front door facing the highway.   

Policy HS5 of the UDP and SPG2 sets out a maximum density of 10 
dwellings per hectare, which the proposal still exceeds.  By contrast the 
NPPF and the emerging Local Plan seeks to ensure that Local Planning 
Authorities are making efficient use of land by avoiding homes being built 
at low densities. This does however need to be weighed against the 
desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting.  

When policies conflict, weight must be given to the stage of preparation of 
the emerging plan and the degree of consistency of the relevant policies to 
the NPPF (the closer the policies in the development plan to the policies in 
the NPPF, the greater the weight that may be given).  Consideration must 
be had as to whether any adverse impacts of granting permission would 

Page 21



significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. 

The amended design allows the property to be centrally positioned within 
the plot, maintaining the spacious existing pattern of built form within the 
streetscene and the wider area.  The proposal relates to the scale and 
form of surrounding properties, and complies with policy HS4 of the UDP 
and paragraph 130 of the NPPF.   

Whilst it is acknowledged the proposal exceeds the maximum density of 
10 dwellings per hectare set out in policy HS5 of the UDP and SPG2, it is 
a material consideration that (unlike the previous refused application) the 
design of the proposal will maintain the spacious existing pattern of built 
form and protect the area’s prevailing character and complies with policy 
HS4 of the UDP, the NPPF and policy WS3.2 of the emerging Local Plan.   

The design of the dwellings is considered acceptable. Amended plans 
were requested removing the prominent car port sited forward of the 
principal elevation.  The scale, appearance, details and materials of new 
development makes a positive contribution to local distinctiveness.  The 
area is characterised by mixed design properties, and the Arts and Crafts 
design is considered appropriate in this location.  The mixed palate of 
materials creates an interesting elevation, which can be conditioned to 
ensure a high quality finish.  The property is set back 15m from the 
highway and partially screened by mature trees and vegetation.  The ridge 
height is comparable with the surrounding properties, measuring 9.5m in 
height adjacent to Oak Cottage and 11.3m adjacent to Green Eaves, with 
spacious separation distances to the side boundaries preventing the 
proposal appearing overbearing to the neighbouring properties. 

The proposal is of a scale, design and density that integrates and 
maintains the area’s prevailing character and setting, and complies with 
policy HS4 of the UDP, the NPPF and policy WS3.2 of the emerging Local 
Plan. 

  

3.8 Highways Traffic and Transportation were consulted and had no objection to the 
proposal.  The proposals are all contained within a private boundary and 
do not impact on the adopted highway to any great extent.  The level of 
proposed on-site car parking is in accordance with the Supplementary 
Planning Document - SPD4) parking standards (SPD4).  The proposals 
include a new vehicle accesses onto Noctorum Road, this will require prior 
approval from Wirral Highways and appropriate traffic management 
agreed.  It’s unlikely that the proposals for the dwelling will generate a 
significant level of traffic and it is therefore considered to have no material 
impact on the highway, as such there are no objections to the 
proposal.  The necessary changes to the Noctorum Road footway to install 
the new vehicle access will require the prior approval from Wirral 
Highways.  Highway Asset requested a Construction Management Plan 
which is not deemed necessary for this development and can be controlled 
be other primary legislation.  There are no highway implications relating to 
this proposal. 

  

3.9 Ecology Phase 1 Habit Survey Report 

Page 22



The development site is near to the following European sites. These sites 
are protected under the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended) and UDP policy NC2 applies: 

•           Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore Special Protection 
Area (SPA) (4.2km); 

•           Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore Ramsar site (4.2km); 

•           Dee Estuary Special Area of Conservation (SAC) (4.2km); 

•           Mersey Estuary SPA (4.5km); 

•           Mersey Estuary Ramsar site (4.5km). 

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) requested further 
detailed information regarding bats and trees and provision of target notes 
in the report and on the Phase 1 Habitat Map, which the applicant 
provided.  MEAS have not objected to the proposal subject to conditions 8-
10. 

The proposal is unlikely to generate a significant volume of waste. 

UDP Policy NC7 (Species Protection) considers a proposal unacceptable if 
it has a significant adverse effect on wildlife species protected by law and it 
will not be permitted unless the protection of species can be secured through 
planning conditions or obligations.  A scheme for the provision of bird 
nesting boxes within the development is required to protect important wildlife 
species having regards to NC7 in Wirral Unitary Development Plan 

Given the above, the proposal is considered to comply with UDP Policy NC7 
as there are no significant impacts on protected species. 

Trees 

The site is covered by a Tree Preservation Order, with mature trees to the 
front and rear boundaries which contribute to the character of the 
area.  Some limited tree removal will be necessary.  The access will require 
the removal of 3 trees with the possibility of the removal of a further tree T5 
which is a poor specimen with poor form due to suppression from adjacent 
trees.  Two self-seeded Sycamores will also need to be removed.  An 
Arboricultural Site Supervision condition is required to safeguard the 
retained trees.  The loss to overall amenity with regards to tree loss is 
considered to be relatively low given the number of trees on the site, and 
the significant number of trees that will be retained, in addition to the 
potential for tree replacement within the site.  A planting plan has been 
submitted.  Section 3.4 of the Tree, Hedge and Woodland strategy sets out 
16 trees should be re-planted as replacements.  The Tree Officer confirmed 
this would be excessive given the site and the scope and space constraints 
imposed by the proposal.  The proposal indicates a possible 3 trees to be 
planted as replacements, which would result in a net loss of trees on the 
site, however, 3 replacement trees would be acceptable mitigation for the 
proposed tree loss given that new hedge planting will also take place.  Malus 
sylvestris is not a suitable replacement species for the scope of this scheme 
though.  A campestre or S aria ‘lutescens’ would be more suitable and the 

Page 23



Planting Plan has been updated to reflect this (D201.001 Rev B Planting 
Plan (dated 15/02/23)).  

 
There are no environmental or sustainability issues relating to these 
proposals subject to conditions.  

  

3.10 Amenity The previous application APP/22/00500 was refused harm the amenity of 
the neighbouring properties, specifically the proposed first and second 
floor balconies and the scale and proximity of plot 2 adjacent to Oak 
Cottage, contrary to Policy HS4 of the UDP. 

The resubmitted application has removed the balconies and increased the 
separation distance to Oak Cottage.  The principle outlook from the 
proposed dwellings is to the front and rear elevations.  There is no 
overlooking to the playing fields opposite, and no direct overlooking to 
windows from the rear elevation.  The 13m-20m rear gardens prevents 
significant overlooking to the rear garden of Three Roods to the west.    

There are ground floor and first floor windows to the original south side of 
Oak Cottage, which appear to serve habitable rooms, and are partially 
screened by vegetation.  Plot 1 is set 5.5m-8.6m from the north boundary 
and 8.35m from the side elevation of Oak Cottage.  The primary outlook 
from Oak Cottage is to the front and rear elevations and the windows in 
the side elevation have a limited outlook due to the mature vegetation to 
the boundary.  The proposal is set away from the boundary and is not 
considered to result in an overbearing structure when viewed from Oak 
Cottage.  The proposed first floor and second floor secondary bedroom 
windows of plot 1 facing north shall be obscurely glazed to prevent 
overlooking and loss of privacy to Oak Cottage.  It is not considered 
necessary to obscurely glaze the ground floor window as this will not result 
in overlooking or loss of privacy.    

There are no windows proposed in the south elevation facing Green Eaves 
and no issues of overlooking or loss of privacy.  It was noted bedroom 4 in 
plot 2 did not have a window which is not acceptable for a habitable room, 
and the internal layout has been amended to remove bed 4 and merge the 
3no. bedrooms into 2no. with outlook to the front and rear.   

The scale of the development will not harm the amenities of the 
neighbouring properties due to its central position within the plot and the 
proposal is not considered to appear overbearing.  The proposal will not 
harm neighbours' outlook and will not result in an over dominant or 
disproportionate structure.  The windows are not considered to result in 
overlooking or loss of privacy to neighbours subject to a condition.    As 
such the proposal complies with HS4 of the UDP and paragraph 124 of the 
NPPF.   

  

3.11 Other In response to representations received from neighbours, objections 
were received on the grounds there is potential for the building to be 
subsequently converted into flats.  The application has to be determined 
as submitted, and potential future applications are not a reason to refuse 
planning permission.  A further planning application would be required, 
neighbours would be reconsulted and consideration would be given to the 
additional impact.  There may be an air raid shelter on the site.  There are 
no heritage assets recorded on the Merseyside Historic Environment 

Page 24



Record within the proposed development and the proposed development 
site is considered to have negligible archaeological potential.  Concerns 
were raised that the illustrative street view is not an accurate 
representation of the position of the neighbouring garage.  The case officer 
visited the site and noted the position of the surrounding development.  An 
objection noted the existing trees are likely to significantly reduce the 
natural light the proposed development would receive, potentially resulting 
in subsequent applications to fell the trees for amenity reasons.  It is 
considered that trees to be retained have adequate space in order to 
prevent damage to their canopy or root structures and to allow sunlight for 
good levels of amenity for future occupiers.  The description of 
development refers to a semi-detached villa and the drawings show two 
properties.  There is scope for future occupiers to erect outbuildings under 
permitted development, and this is not considered harmful to neighbouring 
properties. 

Amended plans were requested removing the car port forward of the 
building line which was considered too prominent and reconfiguring the 
internal layout to remove a bedroom with no window.  No representations 
were received raising concerns regarding the car port or the internal 
layout.  Under the Council's adopted Guidance on Publicity for Planning 
Applications, the statutory requirements do not apply to notify neighbours 
for amendments to a current application where there are no significant 
alterations or increase the size of the proposal. The amendments would 
not have a significantly different impact on neighbours when compared to 
the original proposal.  As the proposal remains substantially similar and 
has the effect of reducing the size and impact of the development re-
notification is not necessary in this instance. 

There are no other relevant planning considerations. 

  

Summary of Decision 

(Planning Balance) 
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require that the 
determination of planning applications must be made in accordance with 
the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise 
 
Having regards to the individual merits of this application it is considered 
that the application is acceptable in planning terms having regards to the 
relevant Policies and Proposals in the Wirral Unitary Development Plan 
(Adopted February 2000), Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and 
Halton and all relevant material considerations including national policy 
advice. In reaching this decision the Local Planning Authority has 
considered the following:- 

  The proposal is considered acceptable in scale and design and is not 
considered to have a harmful visual impact on its surroundings or an 
adverse impact to the amenities that the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties expect to enjoy. The proposal complies with policy HS4, GR5, 
GR7, NC2, NC7 of the adopted Wirral Unitary Development Plan, Joint 
Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton the emerging Local Plan, and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
  

Recommended 
Decision: 

Conditional Approval 

 
  

Page 25



Recommended Conditions and Reasons: 

1 The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the date of this 
decision. 
 

  Reason: To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the amended plans 
received by the local planning authority on 12 January 2023 and listed as follows:  

19175-PJA-S-00-DR-A-1001-G Proposed Site Layout (dated 12.01.23) 

19175-PJA-P4-RF-DR-A-1101-A Proposed Roof Plan (dated 05.01.23) 

19175-PJA-P4-ZZ-DR-A-2100-B Proposed Elevations (dated 05.01.23) 

19175-PJA-S-XX-DR-A-2000-B Proposed Street Scene (dated 05.01.23) 

D201.001 Rev B Planting Plan (dated 15/02/23) 

And the revised floorplan received 01 March 2023: 

19175-PJA-P4-ZZ-DR-A-1100-E Proposed Floor Plans (dated 01.03.23) 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to define the permission 

 
 3  No development above DPC level shall take place until details or samples of the materials to be 
used in the construction of external surfaces of the building have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason: To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the 
character and appearance of the area having regards to Wirral Unitary Development Plan Policy 
HS4. 
 
 4 Before the development hereby permitted is brought into use, the first floor and second floor 
windows in plot 1 facing north shall be obscurely glazed and non-opening, or opening 1.7m above 
floor level, and retained thereafter. 

Reason: To protect neighbour amenity and having regards to Wirral Unitary Development Plan 
Policy HS4 
 
 5 The Arboricultural Method Statement 22/AIA/WIRR/83 dated January 2023 and plans Tree 
Protection Plan 1 - (CONSTRUCTION) Rev A & Tree Protection Plan 2 - (DRIVEWAY) Rev A dated 
January 2023, submitted in support of the application shall be adhered to in full, subject to the pre-
arranged tree protection monitoring and site supervision, detailed in (appendix 5, sequence of 
operations section 2) of the report, by a suitably qualified tree specialist. 

Reason: Required to safeguard and enhance the character and amenity of the site and locality and 
to avoid any irreversible damage to retained trees pursuant to section 197 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 in accordance with Policies GR5 and GR7 of the adopted Wirral Unitary 
Development Plan. 
 
 6 The completed schedule of site supervision and monitoring of the arboricultural protection 
measures as approved in condition 5 shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority within 28 days from completion of the development hereby permitted. This condition may 

Page 26



only be fully discharged on completion of the development, subject to satisfactory written evidence 
of compliance through contemporaneous supervision and monitoring of the tree protection 
throughout construction by a suitably qualified and pre-appointed tree specialist. 

Reason: In order to ensure compliance with the tree protection and arboricultural supervision details 
submitted under condition 5 pursuant to section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in 
accordance with Policies GR5 and GR7 of the adopted Wirral Unitary Development Plan. 
 
 7  The landscaping shown on the approved drawing D201.001 Rev B (dated 15.02.23) shall be 
carried prior to the occupation of the building(s), and any trees, shrubs, hedges or plants which 
within a period of five years from the completion of development die, are removed, or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species. 

Reason: To improve the appearance of the development, to make sure that it contributes to the 
character and appearance of the area 
 
 8  Prior to first occupation, a scheme for the provision of bird nesting boxes within the development 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Details to include number, type 
and location on an appropriately scaled plan as well as timing of installation. The boxes so approved 
shall be completed and available for use prior to first occupation/use of the development and shall 
thereafter be retained. 

Reason: To protect important wildlife species having regards to NC7 in Wirral Unitary Development 
Plan 
 
 9  No tree, shrub or hedgerow felling is to be carried out on the site between 1 March and 31 
August in any year. If it is necessary to undertake works during the bird breeding season then all 
buildings, trees, scrub, hedgerows and vegetation are to be checked first by an appropriately 
experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, details of how they will be 
protected are required to be submitted for approval. 

Reason: To protect birds during their breeding season. 
 
10 Montbretia and Rhododendron are present within the site boundary. Both species are listed on 
Schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and National Planning Policy Guidance applies. 
The applicant should submit a method statement, prepared by a competent person, which includes 
the following information:  

a) A plan showing the extent of the plant(s).  
b) The method(s) that will be used to prevent the plant/s spreading further, including demarcation.  
c) The method(s) of control that will be used, including details of post-control monitoring.  
d)How the plants will be disposed of after treatment/removal.  
The method statement should be submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority prior to 
commencement of any works on site. 
 
Reason: To prevent the spread of the plant through development works 
  
11 Prior to the commencement of development, details of land levels with an off-site datum shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and development shall be built 
in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interest of neighbour amenity and to accord with Wirral Unitary Development Plan 
policy HS4. 
  

Informative 

Page 27



Consent under the Highways Act 1980 is required for the construction of a new or the 
amendment/removal of an existing vehicular access.  Such works are undertaken at the developer's 
expense, including the relocation/replacement and/or removal of street furniture and vegetation as 
necessary.  Submission of a S50 Highway Opening Notice is required prior to commencement of 
any works on the adopted highway. Please contact the Council Highway Management team area 
manager via www.wirral.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the works for the approval of the 
proposed details. 

  

 
  

Last Comments By:  29-11-2022 

Expiry Date: 09-November-2022 

 

Page 28



Planning Committee – Terms of Reference: 
 
The principal role of the Planning Committee is to act as the administrative 
committee responsible for making decisions as local planning authority on planning 
applications, development control and similar regulatory matters, which are more 
particularly described as Functions relating to town and country planning and 
development control and related matters as set out at Schedule 1 of the Local 
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as 
amended). 
 
The Committee is charged by full Council to fulfil those functions:  
 
(a) to consider and determine applications submitted under the Planning Acts for 

planning permission, listed building consent, and reserved matters pursuant to 
major planning applications; 

(b) to consider and determine applications for the display of advertisements 
submitted under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) 
(England) Regulations; 

(c) to determine whether prior approval applications for the construction, installation, 
alteration or replacement of telecommunications masts submitted under Part 24 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
Order 1995 should be granted or refused;  

(d) related matters including but not limited to: 

(i) applications for ‘hedgerow removal’ (Hedgerow Regulations 1997, as 
amended); 

(ii) applications to undertake works to trees subject to a Tree Preservation Order 
or within a Conservation Area (Town and Country Planning Trees 
Regulations 1999, as amended); 

(iii) applications for remedial notices in respect of high hedges (Anti Social 
Behaviour Act 2003, as amended); 

(iv) applications for Hazardous Substances Consent (Planning Hazardous 
Substances Act, 1990, as amended); 

(v) the obtaining of particulars of persons interested in land under Section 16 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; 

(vi) powers related to Commons Registration; 

(vii) functions relating to public rights of way; 

(viii) the licensing and registration functions relating to the New Roads and 
Street Works Act 1991 and the Highways Act 1980; and 

(ix) functions relating to Town and Village Greens; 

Page 29

Agenda Annex



(e) to exercise any other function of the Council under the Planning Acts and related 
legislation, whether as a local planning authority or otherwise, which may be 
referred to it by the Director for Economic and Housing Growth or other officer 
authorised by him/her. 

 
 

Page 30


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	Minutes

	5 APP/22/01656: Land adjacent to Oak Cottage Noctorum Road, Noctorum, Prenton, Wirral, CH43 9UQ, The erection of a semi-detached villa on land adjacent to Oak Cottage, <br/>with associated parking provision and access (2no. dwellings).
	 Planning Committee Terms of Reference

